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Dedicated to

my wife Kate (née Grant); my father Philip;

my mother Eileen (née O’Brien) 1932–1994;

Nora Byrne; Rita and Donal O’Driscoll;

Gaye and Norman O’Neill, friends who stood beside me.



The book is also in memory of two Dubliners who wrote of men caught up in war:

my inspiration, Cornelius Ryan 1920–1974,
author of The Longest Day and A Bridge Too Far,

and my friend, Patrick Hogarty 1926–2005,
author of Remembrance and The Old Toughs.
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‘’Twas better to die ’neath an Irish sky

than at Suvla or Sud-el-Bahr.’



‘The Foggy Dew’
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Foreword

As an Australian I have lived all my life in a country where Gallipoli is a word that resonates with meaning, as it does in New Zealand. Elsewhere, those with a reasonable knowledge of the history of the First World War will recognise it as the name of the 1915 campaign to knock Turkey out of the war. But for Australians it is much more than that. For the Gallipoli campaign is widely regarded in Australia as the crucible of the nation, a period in our history when the inhabitants of the six former British colonies that had federated in 1901 were forged into citizens of the Australian nation. At an Anzac Day lunch in London in 1919 Prime Minister Billy Hughes told his audience that Australia was ‘born on the shores of Gallipoli'. Many Australians challenge that view: in 2008 former Australian Prime Minister Paul Keating described Hughes’ idea of the nation born at Gallipoli as ‘utter and complete nonsense’. But the passion which the debate arouses in Australia confirms that Gallipoli, the place and the event, is well ingrained into our national psyche. If further evidence is needed, an examination of a bibliography relating to the Gallipoli campaign will turn up hundreds of titles covering Australia’s participation in the campaign written by Australians and/or published in Australia.

Yet, for all that, Australians remain ignorant of many of the details of the campaign. They tend to think we and our New Zealand partners were the only ones there, apart from the Turks of course. Some Australians would be aware that British troops were there, but few would know that they included men from Irish regiments, and fewer still that many of those Irishmen fought alongside the Anzacs in battles such as Second Krithia, Lone Pine, Chunuk Bair and Hill 60, and at places iconic to Australians such as Quinn’s Post, or that on the first day of the campaign more Irishmen were killed at the landing beaches than Anzacs.

But it is not only Australians who have forgotten the part played by their Irish cousins-in-arms; the collective amnesia extends to the Irish themselves. In Ireland, especially the Republic, the Dardanelles campaign is largely unknown and, except for commemorations organised by Australians and New Zealanders, the anniversary of the landing on 25 April passes almost unmarked in Ireland, notwithstanding that about the same number of Irishmen as New Zealanders died there. For, although the Irish were as gallant in battle as the Anzacs, their sacrifice at Gallipoli in the Empire’s cause came to be portrayed at home as a betrayal of the Irish nation and its struggle for independence. In the words of the nationalist song ‘The Foggy Dew’, which commemorates those who died in the Easter Rising: ‘’Twas better to die ’neath an Irish sky than at Suvla or Sedd el Bahr.’

While a number of books on the Irish at Gallipoli appeared during and immediately after the war, such as Michael McDonagh’s The Irish at the Front (1916), Bryan Cooper’s The Tenth (Irish) Division in Gallipoli (1918) and Cyril Falls’ The History of the Royal Irish Rifles (1925), the field soon dried up and remained so until the early 1980s. But over the past three decades academic and journalist historians have rediscovered the part played by Irish soldiers in the First World War. Although the figures vary, it is commonly accepted that about 200,000 Irishmen fought in the war and about 35,000 were killed or died as a result of their war service. Spurred on by a growing interest in genealogy and the advent of the decade of commemorations the Irish have emerged from their social amnesia with a hunger to know more and more about the part which the Irish played in the war.

It is in this context that Philip Lecane’s Beneath a Turkish Sky comes to be published at such an important time. A number of books appearing in the last few years have discussed the Irish at Gallipoli, but often as part of more general works such as Myles Dungan’s Irish Voices from the Great War (1995) or Tom Johnstone’s Orange, Green and Khaki (1992) or concentrating on the Suvla Bay landing in August 1915, such as Philip Orr’s Field of Bones (2006). Beneath a Turkish Sky is the first book to be published specifically on the landing of the 1st Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers and 1st Battalion Royal Munster Fusiliers at V Beach, Gallipoli on 25 April 1915. Its concentration on that one event in a campaign that lasted nine months, demonstrates the level of sophistication that Irish interest in the Gallipoli campaign has reached. While these days many sources will give an interested reader an overview of Irish involvement in the campaign, it is only works such as this that will enable the Irish people to develop a deeper understanding of the important part the Irish played at Gallipoli and the suffering they endured.



As with his earlier book on the 1918 sinking of RMS Leinster, the mail boat from Dublin’s southern port of Dún Laoghaire (then Kingstown) to Holyhead in Wales (Torpedoed (2005)), Philip approaches the subject from the level of the individuals involved. While painting the broader picture so that we fully understand the significance of the Gallipoli campaign and the context of the involvement of the Irish in it, he peels the onion layer by layer so that we gain an intimate understanding of the momentous events from the viewpoint of those involved. As such it is a work of prodigious research, interrogating a wide variety of sources both obvious and obscure.

Under Philip’s tutelage we travel with the men of the Dublin and Munster Fusiliers back from their colonial postings in India and Burma, we join them in the camps in England as they train for the new war they have been recalled to fight, we embark with them on their voyage to the Greek island of Lemnos in preparation for the landing at Gallipoli and we spend two days with them, 25 and 26 April, sharing their ordeal in the landing at V Beach and its immediate aftermath.

Any good historian, and Philip is one of them, must have a sense of place if he or she is going to give the reader a true understanding of the events described. Philip has visited Gallipoli on a number of occasions and many times has walked along V Beach, contemplating the terror which infused the soldiers as they huddled under the sandbank to avoid the hail of Turkish bullets, has crawled into the crumbling ruins of Sedd el Bahr Fort from which the Turkish defenders unleashed a withering fire on the hapless troops disembarking from the River Clyde, has stood on the heights above V Beach envisaging the landing from the point of view of the Turkish riflemen and has wandered through the narrow streets of Sedd el Bahr village, through which the exhausted Munsters and Dublins cautiously advanced the next day, constantly harassed by snipers. As an Australian brought up on tales of the courage and tenacity of the Anzacs in their landing at Z Beach (now called Anzac Cove), I am humbled by Philip’s account of the Irish at V Beach. While over 700 Anzacs were killed in the first few days of the campaign, the landing itself at Z Beach was largely unopposed. Most were killed in the fighting in the hills and gullies above the beach once the Turkish reserves arrived to repel the invaders. For the Irish the slaughter occurred mostly on the beach itself, with many being killed as they sat helpless in open boats or when they emerged from the sanctuary of the River Clyde onto the gangways saturated with Turkish fire. If the gallantry of the Anzacs who stormed the heights above Anzac Cove deserves to be remembered, as it is and undoubtedly does, then that of the Irish at V Beach should never be forgotten either. Publication of Beneath a Turkish Sky is an important step in ensuring that will not happen.



Jeff Kildea

Keith Cameron Chair of Australian History 

University College Dublin







Author’s Preface

‘On a recent UK quiz show with university graduates, not one member of either team knew the location of Gallipoli.’

Helles Landing: Gallipoli, by Huw & Jill Rodge (2003)



In November 1914, the British cabinet effectively gave responsibility for overseeing war operations to the War Council, a sub-committee of the cabinet. The War Council consisted of Prime Minister Herbert Asquith, Secretary of State for War Lord Herbert Kitchener, First Lord of the Admiralty Winston Churchill, Chancellor of the Exchequer David Lloyd George, Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs Sir Edward Grey, and Secretary of State for India Robert Crewe-Milnes, Marquis of Crewe. Particular meetings of the War Council were also attended by other cabinet ministers and army and naval officers. In practise, the War Council was dominated by Asquith, Kitchener and Churchill.

At the beginning of 1915, British and French armies on the Western Front found it impossible to break through the approximately 350 miles of heavily fortified German trenches that stretched from the English Channel to the Swiss border. Some British strategists, including Winston Churchill, felt the stalemate could only be broken by attacking Germany’s ally, Turkey. The War Council decided a combined British-French fleet should force its way up the Dardanelles, the narrow seaway that leads from the Aegean Sea to the Sea of Marmara. The fleet would then cross the Sea of Marmara to the Turkish capital of Constantinople (Istanbul). It was believed this would bring about a Turkish surrender. This in turn would allow Britain and France to establish a supply route across the Black Sea to their ally Russia. It would also provide an opportunity to attack Germany and her ally, Austro-Hungry, on their eastern flank.

The attack on Turkey was badly planned and poorly executed. In March 1915, a combined British-French fleet was unable to force its way through the Dardanelles, because the narrow seaway was mined and both of its shores defended by artillery. The War Council therefore decided troops would be landed on the Gallipoli Peninsula, on the European side of the Dardanelles. Their objective would be to seize part of the peninsula and capture or immobilise the Turkish guns that dominated the Dardanelles. It was believed this would enable the seaway to be cleared of mines and allow the combined British-French fleet to sail to Constantinople.

Early on Sunday morning, 25 April 1915, British troops (including Irish battalions) landed on five beaches on the Gallipoli Peninsula. Australian and New Zealand troops landed on another beach and French troops landed on the Asian side of the Dardanelles. Some of the landings met with strong resistance from the Turks and – apart from the French landing – the Allies failed to achieve their initial objectives. This failure was followed by a protracted campaign, involving trench warfare similar to that on the Western Front. In August 1915, a further landing at Suvla Bay, further up the Gallipoli Peninsula, failed to break the deadlock and, in January 1916, the Allies withdrew from the peninsula.
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The Special Commissions (Dardanelles and Mesopotamia) Act 1916 established the Dardanelles Commission to investigate the planning and conduct of the Gallipoli campaign. The report of the Dardanelles Commission makes it clear the decision-making processes that led to the invasion of Gallipoli were gravely flawed. Military and naval ‘expert advisers’ who attended meetings of the War Council told the Dardanelles Commission they felt their role was to express their views only if called upon to do so, and they were rarely called upon. The political members of the War Council, however, told the Commission that the silence of the ‘expert advisers’ implied agreement with the plans under discussion. Apart from any other flaws in the decision-making process, this confusion on the role of ‘expert advisers’ alone was surely a recipe for disaster.

According to the report, the Commission was:



struck with the atmosphere of vagueness and want of precision which seems to have characterised the proceedings of the War Council … Some of those present at the meetings of the Council left without having any clear idea of what had or had not been decided.



While the War Council’s objectives remained unchanged during the Gallipoli campaign, views on how to attain these objectives gradually underwent a profound change.



The necessity for employing a large military force became daily more apparent. The idea of a purely naval operation was gradually dropped … It does not appear that either the Cabinet or the War Council ever definitely discussed and deliberately changed the policy. General Callwell (Director of Military Operations) says that it would be very difficult to assign any date at which the change took place. ‘We drifted,’ he said, ‘into the big military attack.’



According to the Commission’s report, ‘After March 19th (1915) there was no further meeting of the War Council until May 14th, and we are unable to ascertain any precise date on which, after the failure of the naval attack, military operations on the Gallipoli campaign were definitely decided on’ The Dardanelles Commission issued its report in 1919, after the war was over. The report concluded the campaign was poorly planned, difficulties had been underestimated, delays after the first attack had wasted precious time and there had been insufficient artillery and ammunition. The final report was published in 1919, after the war was over. While various decision makers were mildly censured, publication of the report per se does not appear to have had a negative impact any of their careers.1
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Apart from the Official History of the War: Military Operations: Gallipoli Vol. 1, most books on the Gallipoli campaign tend to fall into one of three broad categories. The first is comprised of personal memoirs written shortly after the campaign. The second and third are comprised of more recent books that either look at the entire campaign or focus on aspects of the Australian experience.2 The fact the Gallipoli campaign was relatively short meant that authors, including those writing memoirs, were in a position to examine the overall campaign (or the Australian aspects of the campaign) within a single book. So the initial landings, on 25 April 1915, are usually briefly covered as part of the overall story. With the exception of the landing at Z Beach, now popularly known as Anzac Cove, the story of the initial landings has yet to be covered in the detail it merits. The fact that participants from both sides are no longer available for interview means a book such as The Longest Day – Cornelius Ryan’s epic work on the Second World War D-Day landings – will never be written about the 25 April 1915 Gallipoli landings.3 Long tantalised by the all-too-brief references to the V Beach/Sedd el Bahr landing in books on Gallipoli, I set out to research the story of what happened there on 25 April 1915. The story has never been – and probably never will be – told in the detail deserved by the men of both sides who fought there. But some attempt at a detailed account is long overdue.

My research into the Sedd el Bahr landing was hampered by the lack of a war diary for the 1st Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers for the period of the landing.4 However, the availability of two excellent sources allowed the telling of a part of the story not accessible through official documents and battalion histories. Patrick Hogarty’s Remembrance and Chris Holland and Tony Jordan’s The Story Behind the Monument tell the little-known story of British troops billeted on England’s civilian population in the early part of the First World War. The authors of both publications researched local newspapers (Hogarty in Torquay and Holland & Jordan in Warwickshire and North Oxfordshire) for information on the soldiers who were billeted in these areas in late 1914 and early 1915. This book has also greatly benefited from Denis Stoneham’s article ‘Steamship River Clyde – How Britain Failed to Save a Hero of Gallipoli’, published in World Ship Review (No. 40, June 2005).

The myth that there are no Turkish sources available on the Gallipoli campaign was strongly dispelled by Dr Edward J. Erickson, Lieutenant-Colonel US Army (Retired), in Ordered to Die: A History of the Ottoman Army in the First World War and Ottoman Army Effectiveness in World War 1: A Comparative Study. His works are invaluable sources on the Turkish experiences at Sedd el Bahr. During the writing of this book Dr Jeff Kildea made me aware of research being carried out by the Australian War Memorial on Turkish records of the Gallipoli campaign. Harvey Broadbent, Director of the Gallipoli Centenary Research Project and Senior Research Fellow, Department of Modern History, Macquarie University, New South Wales, very kindly briefed me on the scope of the project. Unfortunately my book went to print before the project’s findings were published.

The V Beach landing took place below the village and the old fortress of Sedd el Bahr. I was most fortunate to be able to consult with Professor Lucienne Thys-Şenocak of Koç University, Turkey. She very generously made available to me a pre-publication draft of Defending the Dardanelles: The Fortresses of Seddülbahir and Kumkale and the legacy of Turhan Sultan, Chapter 4 of her book Ottoman Women Builders: The Architectural Patronage of Hadice Turhan Sultan. I am deeply grateful for her kindness and assistance to me. The Great War Forum website, http://1914-1918.invisionzone.com/forums/, and some of its members have been an amazing resource to me in the writing of this book. Like me, the vast majority of the Forum’s members are non-academic First World War historians. The depth of their combined knowledge is matched only by the breath of their helpfulness and, indeed, their great kindness. I highly recommend the site to all who are engaged in First World War research.
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The major part of the force that landed at Sedd el Bahr on 25 April 1915 comprised of two-and-a-half British infantry battalions i.e. the 1st Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers, the 1st Battalion Royal Munster Fusiliers and two of the four companies of the 2nd Battalion Hampshire Regiment.5 This book uses the Royal Dublin Fusiliers as the primary focus of the story.
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What is now modern-day Turkey was part of the Ottoman Empire in 1915. Although the men who opposed the landing at Sedd el Bahr were officially known as Ottomans, they were commonly known to their enemies – and often to themselves – as Turks. In this book the terms Ottoman and Turk are used interchangeably. Although the current Turkish name for the place where the 25 April 1915 landing took place is Seddülbahir, I decided to use the contemporary spelling most used by British sources (which at the time included Irish sources), i.e. Sedd el Bahr.6 Though the Turkish name for their capital was Istanbul, I have referred to it as Constantinople, the name by which it was known in the English speaking world at the time of the Gallipoli campaign.
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Starting in 2005, and still continuing, one of the ‘hottest’ topics on the online Great War Forum has been a discussion as to whether or not the Turks had machine guns at the landing beaches on 25 April. On the one hand are numerous British and Australian accounts of having been fired at by machine guns, on the other are claims that the Turks had very few machine guns. The debate has included discussions on what exactly constitutes a machine-gun. For example, was a pom-pom gun a machine-gun? Not having any particular authority to comment on the issue, I have not entered the debate in this book. Where particular witnesses have stated they were fired on by machine guns, I have quoted this without comment.

There is an unresolved issue around casualties sustained by the Royal Dublin Fusiliers and Royal Munster Fusiliers during the landing at V Beach. Possibly because the landing has not previously been studied in any great depth, statements regarding the casualties sustained by both battalions on 25 April 1915 have been lacking in clarity. Several books appear to imply that hundreds of men from the Dublins and Munsters were killed during the landing at V Beach. Yet online Commonwealth War Grave Commission records show only approximately sixty Dublins and approximately fifty Munsters being recorded as killed on that day.7

One cannot conclude from this, however, that the landing was a minor action or that heavy casualties were not sustained. The quoted figures pose a problem when compared with the figures for the strength of both battalions just four days later. Out of the twenty-five officers and 987 men of the Royal Dublin Fusiliers who had gone to Gallipoli, the battalion had only one officer and 344 men fit for service on 29 April. The corresponding figures for the Munsters are that of the twenty-eight officers and 1,002 men who had gone to Gallipoli, only twelve officers and 588 men were available for service on 29 April. Because of their numerical deficiencies, both battalions were amalgamated for a short period, until reinforcements arrived. Given that the two battalions were in action only on 25 April and 26 April, why was there such a huge difference in the strength of the Dublins and Munsters between their arrival in the Mediterranean and on 29 April? There are two possible answers. Either the number of deaths cited for 25 April (based on figures supplied by both battalions) are incorrect or huge numbers were wounded during the landing. With no medical facilities available ashore, the wounded were quickly evacuated. Those who died aboard hospital ships or in hospitals around the Mediterranean would not have been recorded as having died in Gallipoli. Knowing that Lieutenant Raymond de Lusignan of the Dublins, recorded as killed on 26 April, was actually killed the previous day, I would tentatively suggest that perhaps at least some of the Dublins recorded for 26 April were in fact killed the previous day. In a letter home, Lance-Corporal John Walsh of the Munsters said that Private James Searles was killed on 25 April. Yet he is recorded as having been killed on 27 April. This whole issue would certainly merit further study.
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‘The Foggy Dew’ is a song about Ireland’s 1916 Rising. Some sources attribute the song to Peadar Kearney, composer of the national anthem of the Republic of Ireland. Other sources attribute it to Canon Charles O’Neill, a parish priest of Kilcoo and later Newcastle, both places in County Down, Northern Ireland.8 The confusion about authorship is hardly helped by the fact that there are a number of versions of the song. All versions contain the lines: ‘’Twas better to die ’neath an Irish sky, than at Suvla or Sud-el-Bahr’ (note the spelling). One version of the song says that if the Irishmen who died in the First World War had died in the 1916 Easter Rising, ‘Their graves we’d keep where the Fenians sleep,’ while in another version it is ‘Their names we’d keep where the Fenians sleep.’ Until recently, the Irishmen and Irishwomen who served in the First World War were written out of their country’s history. Many of the men who died at V Beach were Irishmen. In telling their story – and that of their British comrades – I hope to restore to memory some of those who died beneath a Turkish sky.
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A brief outline of the structure of the book might benefit the reader. With some mention of the 1st Battalion Royal Munster Fusiliers and the 2nd Battalion Hampshire Regiment, the early chapters of the book focus on the 1st Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers. We meet them in India, follow them on their journey to England, look at their time in England and their departure from Avonmouth. Their story is interspersed with events occurring elsewhere, such as meetings of the War Council and the naval attacks on the Dardanelles. These events are introduced to give a sense of the slowly unfolding disaster that led to the deaths of hundreds of men in the sea and on the beach below Sedd el Bahr village at the tip of the Gallipoli Peninsula. As the Royal Dublin Fusiliers leave Avonmouth, the focus of the story switches to Turkey, the country they are about to invade. The book then returns to the Royal Dublin Fusiliers and other units as they voyage from Avonmouth to Egypt. It looks at their time in Egypt and their voyage to Mudros harbour on Lemnos.

The following chapter tells of the gathering of the invasion force at Lemnos Island and the journey of the V Beach contingent to the Gallipoli Peninsula. The story of the landing at V Beach is then told. The next two chapters cover the aftermath of the landing and the rest of the Gallipoli campaign. The final chapter tells the stories of some of the survivors of V Beach in the years that followed, as well as relatives of some of those who still lie beneath a Turkish sky. It might be helpful for readers to refer to Appendices 1 and 2 while reading the main text.
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I would very much like to hear from any reader who has further information on the SS River Clyde or any of the men – Irish, British or Turkish – who fought at Sedd el Bahr. I can be contacted at the email address below or through the email address of the Royal Dublin Fusiliers Association: rdfa@eircom.net Please ask that your email be forwarded to me. The Royal Dublin Fusiliers Association promotes remembrance of the Irish men and women who served in the First World War. The association’s highly informative website is at www.greatwar.ie. I also highly commend the site www.royaldublinfusiliers.com to the reader. As previously mentioned, I very highly recommend the site of The Great War Forum http://1914-1918.invisionzone.com/forums/.



Philip Lecane,

rmsleinster@gmail.com



Notes


1  In 1915, Churchill had taken much of the blame for the fiasco, eventually resigning from government.

2  Australians have undertaken far more detailed research about units of their army’s participation in the Gallipoli Campaign than the British have into theirs.

3  The Gallipoli book that comes closest to Ryan’s work is Gallipoli: The Landings at Helles by Huw and Jill Rodge. It covers the landings at all five Helles beaches on the tip of the Gallipoli Peninsula. Excellently researched and written, it contains the most detail I have come across about the Helles landings. The excellent Hell’s Foundation: A Town, its Myths and Gallipoli by Geoffrey Moorhouse tells the story of the Lancashire Fusiliers and their regimental home of Bury during and after the First World War. The landing at W Beach – now known as Lancashire Landing – forms part of the story.

4  At the time of writing, the National Archives does not have a war diary available for the period in question.

5  While the official history of the Hampshires is titled The Royal Hampshire Regiment 1914-1918, the regiment did not have the Royal prefix during either of the world wars.

6  Variations of this spelling were also used by contemporary Ottoman/Turkish sources.

7  I say approximately because it depends on how one does the count. Does one for instance count the Dublin’s chaplain Father William Finn, who is recorded in CWGC records as Army Chaplains Department? What about Staff Sergeant Percival Bonynge who was attached to the Dublin’s, but recorded as Army Ordinance Corps? Then there was Captain Thomas Frankland of the Dublins, killed after landing at W Beach, while serving as brigade major of 29th Division’s 86th Brigade. While Major Charles Jarrett of the Munsters was killed at V Beach, he will not be located in a search of the records for V Beach cemetery or those of the Helles Memorial to the missing, because he is commemorated at Lancashire Landing Cemetery, where the men killed at W Beach are buried.

8  I do not feel it necessary to cite these sources, as none of those I have read furnished creditable proof to support their particular claim of the song’s authorship.









‘What I write about is not war,
but the courage of man.’



Cornelius Ryan,

author of The Longest Day and A Bridge Too Far



‘This war has fallen heavily on some regiments. Scarcely any has suffered more severely, none has won greater distinction, than the Dublin Fusiliers.’



Winston Churchill, in London to Ladysmith via Pretoria



Prologue

The Lonely Graves



‘In this generation we redeem their memory,

 acknowledging their service
and the pain of those who loved them.’



President Mary McAleese,
remembering Ireland’s First World War dead, at Messines, Belgium, 11 November 1998

V Beach Cemetery, Sedd el Bahr,
 Gallipoli, Turkey, 24 March 2010

The cemetery lies at the tip of the Gallipoli peninsula in Turkey, just yards from where the men were killed. A few miles away, a steady stream of people come from the Southern Hemisphere to visit the graves of the Australians and New Zealanders who were killed in the Gallipoli campaign. But few come to visit the lonely cemetery on the seashore. For almost a century the men of the Royal Dublin Fusiliers and the Royal Munster Fusiliers who died on the beach and in the sea have waited for Ireland to remember them. Their voices seem to echo in the still air. Lieutenant-Colonel Richard Rooth, the Dublins commanding officer, who died leading his men: ‘We are an Irish battalion, and we are far from home.’ Father William Finn, the Dublin’s chaplain, who came ashore in the same boat as Rooth: ‘The priest’s place is with the dying soldier.’ The ghosts of the Royal Munster Fusiliers are also here: ‘I turned to a chap on my right. His name was Fitzgerald. He was from Cork, but soon he was over the border’ [i.e. dead.]1 ‘Jimmy Searles was killed on the 25th April and was buried by the seaside.’2

But today the amnesia will end and remembering will begin. A woman enters the cemetery with her husband. Accompanying them are Turkish and Irish dignitaries, together with members of the media from both countries. All eyes are on the dignified woman. Mary McAleese, President of the Republic of Ireland, has come to tell the ghosts their long wait is over; she has come to hear their story and to bring it back home across the sea.

 The President laid a wreath in memory of all who died at V Beach. She was then shown a number of particular graves and special memorials and was told about the men who are buried or commemorated there. For one brief moment the men who died at V Beach have attracted media attention. But one moment is all that is needed. Later that day a film of President McAleese’s visit to the remote cemetery is shown on Irish and Turkish television. The following day, the visit is given front-page coverage in Irish and Turkish newspapers. In Ireland people began to discuss the coverage and some start to speak about their relatives who served in the disastrous Gallipoli campaign.



Notes

1  Private James Fitzgerald from Blarney, County Cork.

2  Private James Searles from Bandon, County Cork.











CHAPTER 1

India:
At the Empire’s Front Gate 

‘The East India Company maintained its own army, composed of a few “European” regiments – white men, mostly Irish – and a growing number of “native” regiments.’

Queen Victoria’s Little Wars, by Byron Farwell

Ahmednagar Barracks, Deccan, India, 1910-1913

The elephant and tiger on the buttons of their khaki British Army uniforms showed the men were members of the Royal Dublin Fusiliers, a regiment with a history dating back to the early days of British involvement in India. The soldiers were from the Dublins 1st Battalion. They had been taught the battalion’s history; learning it had not been established as part of the British Army, but as part of a private army formed in India by the East India Company in the 1660s. After the Indian Mutiny, the battalion – and the rest of the East India Company army – had been taken into the British Army. Like most battalions in the army, it subsequently underwent a number of name changes, eventually becoming, in 1881, the 1st Battalion, Royal Dublin Fusiliers. The battalion had its own traditions, its own motto – Spectamur Agendo (We are known by our deeds) and its own nickname – The Blue Caps (originally Neill’s Blue Caps, named after Commanding Officer James Neill, who supplied the men with blue coverings for their caps during the Indian Mutiny).

Comprised of between 800 and 1,000 officers and other ranks, the battalion was the British Army’s basic infantry tactical unit. Membership of the 1st Battalion, Royal Dublin Fusiliers was 80 per cent Irish and 16.9 per cent English. While the recruiting area for the Royal Dublin Fusiliers was comprised of counties Carlow, Dublin, Kildare and Wicklow, 61.7 per cent of the 1st Battalion were born in Dublin city or county.1 Like London and Liverpool, Dublin was designated a special recruiting district outside the territorial system. The three cities ‘acted as magnets for large numbers of men … who came to them in search of work and who, if they could not find it, might enlist.’2 The Inspector-General of Recruiting often directed that recruits from the three cities should be sent to regiments in need of men, whose own recruiting districts could not supply them.

Most British infantry regiments had two battalions. One tended to be based ‘at home’ (England, Scotland, Wales or Ireland) and the other overseas. The priority was to keep the overseas battalion up to strength. New recruits would be sent to the ‘at home’ battalion for a period of training, following which they would be sent to the overseas battalion as part of a draft (i.e. reinforcements). Having spent a number of years overseas, a battalion would come ‘home’ and its sister battalion would go overseas.
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Stephen Filbey and Harry Fox were firm friends. Their friendship was doubtless cemented by the fact that both had been placed in the Foundling Hospital, London, and it seems likely they would have known each other while at the institution.3 Fox was a few years older, born on 10 July 1878. As his single-parent mother was unable to care for him, he was placed in the Foundling Hospital. The hospital named the infant Henry (known as Harry) Fox and later fostered him with the Clarke family in Hadlow near Tonbridge, Kent. Many families from the surrounding area took in foundlings from the hospital. Given the fact he maintained contact with them when he joined the army, Harry seems to have had a very good experience with the Clarkes, a couple who over many years fostered more than forty children. When aged five or six, foundlings were usually returned to the hospital to attend school. Some sang in the chapel choir and attracted large congregations whose collections helped to fund the hospital. Some were taught to play musical instruments and many of the boys went on to serve in military bands. On 10 April 1893, at the age of fourteen, Harry Fox joined the Royal Dublin Fusiliers as a drummer.4 Of low stature; he eventually grew to 5ft 3in. Queen Victoria, who was not exactly a tall person herself, once spotted the boy drummer on parade and asked for him to be presented to her. Harry served in the Boer War and later in Malta, Crete, Egypt and the Sudan. He eventually attained the rank of band sergeant.

Stephen Filbey was born on 2 May 1884, to twenty-two-year-old Emily Higgs, a shirtmaker. Charles Pugh, the boy’s father, worked in a drapery. The month the boy was born, his father gave notice to his employer. He abandoned Emily and their son, fleeing to New Zealand and then Australia. Emily’s father, Edward Higgs, and her five brothers worked as lightermen in London’s Docklands. (A lighter is a flat-bottomed barge used to transfer goods to and from moored ships. Unpowered, they were moved and steered using long oars, with their motive power provided by water currents.) Ironically, lighters would play a significant part in the landing at Sedd el Bahr on 25 April 1915.
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Sergeant Stephen Filbey and Sergeant Harry Fox, 1912.

By the time of his grandson’s birth, Edward Higgs’s health had deteriorated. He was unable to financially support Emily and the boy. Emily continued to work in the shirt factory, while her mother Eliza cared for the boy during working hours. In January 1885, Eliza died. With no one to care for her son during the day, Emily was forced to stop working, leaving herself and her father with no income. By this stage, her brothers either had their own families to support or were unemployed. Emily petitioned the Foundling Hospital to take care of her baby. However, entry was conditional. The hospital would only accept a firstborn or only child, the mother had to be of good reputation, the mother and child had to have been abandoned by the father and the child had to be admitted before its first birthday. Representatives of the hospital interviewed Emily, her family, her former employer and the sister of the boy’s father. Emily and her father were deemed to be ‘most respectable people of their class’ and her petition was accepted by the hospital. On 14 April 1885 Emily Higgs walked to the Foundling Hospital, where she gave up her child Charles Higgs, half a month before his first birthday. Foundling tokens (coins, buttons, jewellery, poems) were given by mothers leaving their babies, allowing the hospital to match a mother with her child should she ever come back to claim it. But, like the majority of children at the hospital, Charles never saw his mother again. On the day he was admitted, Charles Higgs’ identity was wiped clean. An identity tag was placed around his neck with Foundling Hospital identity number 22014. Infant number 22014 was bathed, wrapped in a clean blanket and taken to the institution’s chapel, where he was baptised into the Church of England and given the name Stephen Filbey. Stephen was fostered by Ellen and George Underwood (a farm labourer) in Chertsey, Surrey. While Ellen, aged sixty, was the official foster mother, it is likely her daughter Ellen Stevens, aged thirty-five, helped care for the several foundlings fostered by her mother. From 1885 to 1889, Stephen lived in a pastoral setting with his foster parents and several other foster children. Like Harry Fox, Stephen was returned to the hospital at about the age of five. This would have been an extremely traumatic experience for him. The first few days and nights in the institution would have been a nightmare for a young boy whose only memories would have been of his Underwood parents and life in the country. Newly returned foundlings were housed in a special area of the institution until they could be integrated into the boys or girls wing. Like Harry Fox, Stephen was chosen for the Foundling Hospital band. Learning to play a number of instruments, he became proficient at the cello. Even if Harry and Stephen had not known each other before, due to the difference in their ages, it seems likely they would have become familiar – and possibly friendly – while in the band. There was an overlap period, from 1889 to 1893, when both attended the Foundling Hospital and younger boys learned to befriend older boys for protection against bullying. Perhaps Filbey and Fox teamed up for mutual support: Fox being older but of small stature, Filbey being younger but bigger.

Most foundlings never left the grounds of the institution, although they could hear and partially see everyday London life in the vicinity of the hospital. The institution had an indoor pool, where they were taught to swim, an uncommon skill for the time. The fact they could swim would serve both Harry and Stephen well on the day they landed at Sedd el Bahr on 25 April 1915.

On 6 April 1899, aged fourteen years and eleven months, Stephen Filbey joined the Royal Dublin Fusiliers in London, as a boy soldier. He was 5ft 1½in in height, with fair complexion, blue eyes and brown hair. He had scars on the back of his head and on his left shin. He gave his profession as musician. He signed on for a period of twelve years and was assigned as a drummer, with regimental number 6662. On 18 November 1902, he was one of a draft for the 1st Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers in Malta. Doubtless he was glad to see fellow ex-foundling Harry Fox welcoming him to the battalion. Like Harry, Stephen became a member of the 1st Battalion’s band.

Subsequently serving in Cyprus, the battalion later returned to Malta. In late 1905, it moved to Alexandria in Egypt, in 1907 to Khartoum in the Sudan and in 1908 to Cairo in Egypt. At Malta, on 3 March 1905, Stephen passed classes of instruction for rank of corporal. On 10 March, he was appointed lance-corporal. Two and a half months later, on 2 March 1906, at Alexandria, he was reduced to the rank of private, presumably for some misconduct of the type to which soldiers are regularly prone. However, he was again appointed lance-corporal on 30 October 1906. The following year saw the battalion based at Khartoum in the Sudan, where they rode camels in the desert. On 3 September 1909, in Cairo, Stephen signed on for a further period of service with the Dublins, for a term that would give him a total service of twenty-one years. The following year found the battalion back in India, the land of its birth, where it was based at Ahmednagar.

[image: images]

One of Stephen Filbey’s favourite off-duty pursuits was snake hunting. He and some of his pals, quite likely including Harry Fox, would leave the barracks at Ahmednagar and head for town. There, they would seek out local Indian mongoose owners and bargain with them for their hire and that of their animals. The soldiers had to keep a number of factors in mind. While trying to acquire the ‘best’ mongoose of the bunch, each man was also trying to hire the animal for the lowest possible cost. Having completed the transaction, the men had to calculate how much money to bet on their hired mongoose. Then, the party of Indians and off-duty soldiers would head off into the bush, each mongoose on a long leash.

In the bush, the party would search for snake holes in the ground, particularly those of the deadly cobra. Once a snake’s lair was located, a mongoose would be sent in, its long leash being slowly played out. The men eagerly awaited the sounds which indicated the mongoose had found a snake and that mortal combat had ensued. Meanwhile, the men kept careful watch on the snake holes in case an agitated cobra emerged. Most times the mongoose emerged from the hole, a dead cobra in its mouth. The winner of the snake hunt was the man whose mongoose had killed the largest or the most snakes. These hunts would appear to have been the lower-rank equivalent to the tiger hunts in which officers engaged.

 Harry Fox and Stephen Filbey were members of the battalion’s band and both were eventually promoted to the rank of sergeant. Stephen had a luxurious moustache, of which he was very proud. One night, presumably after a few drinks, Harry and others cut off half of Stephen’s moustache while he was asleep. Furious when he discovered what had happened, Stephen was unable to discover the culprit. To prevent ridicule in the sergeants-mess, he had to shave off the other half of his moustache. Presumably, however, this still did not save him from an unmerciful ribbing. A few months later, Harry was seeing Stephen off at a railway station. As the train pulled out Harry shouted that it was he who had cut his friend’s moustache. The train disappeared with Stephen shaking his fist in anger at Harry.

Stephen had a talent for tennis that resulted in his being invited to play with the battalion’s officers. When his present-day family first heard of this fact they found it very difficult to believe, because of the strict protocol that officers did not socialise with other ranks. Stephen’s grandson Brian Filbey, however, subsequently acquired a photograph showing his grandfather wearing tennis clothes, with officer tennis players, their wives and Indian ball-boys seated in front.

On 29 February 1912, the men of the regimental band participated in a Programme of Sports held at South Lines, Ahmednagar. Entries, heats and places were published in a brochure printed after the event. Stephen Filbey and Harry Fox were mentioned several times.
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Private James Burke was from Kilkenny City.5 The seventh of eight children, his mother died when he was nine. His father deserted the family soon afterwards. At the age of ten, James left the family home. Sleeping in a barn near the village of Ballyragget, he was discovered by farmer Sam Thorpe. On hearing his story, Thorpe and his sister Dolly took him to live with them and their housekeeper, Martha Ruddock. A Protestant family, the Thorpes ensured the Roman Catholic Burke attended mass every Sunday. Burke stayed with the Thorpes for four years. He then returned to his family home, to find it deserted and subsequently worked at various jobs, including behind the scenes at a circus.

In late 1908, Burke joined the Special Reserve as a part-time soldier at the Royal Dublin Fusiliers depot at Naas. Presumably he enjoyed the experience because, three months later, in early 1909, he transferred to the regular army, enlisting for a period of seven years with the colours to be followed by five years with the reserve. Posted to the 2nd Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers in England, he went absent without leave in February and April 1910, returning voluntarily on both occasions. His absences probably occurred following failure to report to the barracks on time following periods of leave, or possibly followed times spent drinking.

British Army battalions stationed at home would periodically send drafts (i.e. reinforcements) to battalions from the same regiment serving abroad. On 8 August 1910, Burke was posted to the 1st Battalion, which was stationed in India. Led by the battalion band, playing ‘The Wearing of the Green’, Burke and a draft of about thirty men, marched out the gates of Aldershot Barracks on their way to the railway station. Among the draft was Private Benjamin Hurt. Born in Milford, Derbyshire in 1884, he had worked on a farm as a waggoner and as a collier, before joining the Dubs in Birmingham on 7 June 1909. A week later he was at the regimental depot in Naas, County Kildare. On 29 September 1909, his training completed, he was transferred to the 2nd Battalion in England.6

James Burke, Benjamin Hurt and the rest of the Royal Dublin Fusilier draft docked at Bombay on 8 September 1910. From there they boarded a train to Ahmednagar. The train consisted of a series of roofless wagons, akin to horse boxes, pulled by an engine travelling at about 5 miles per hour. The wagons did not have seats and the men sat on the floor, which was strewn with banana skins, orange peel and red spittle, deposited by betel-chewing travellers who had previously been in the wagon. After a week under the blazing sun, the train pulled into Ahmednagar station. The station stood in a jungle, without another building in sight. The ground outside was covered by rice fields. A crowd of Indian men, women and children stood begging in the station with outstretched hands. The soldiers later learned the village of Ahmednagar was further back in the jungle.

The sergeant in charge of the draft lined up the men and addressed them. He said the journey had been hard on them all, but when they left the station, the locals would be watching. He asked the men to straighten up and not to let down ‘the old Dubs’. He said the barracks was about a mile away and he did not want to see any man fall out. As the draft emerged from the station they were met by about six Blue Cap bandsmen, who had volunteered to play the draft back to the barracks. One of the musicians called out to a friend in the draft, telling him the first ten years were the worst! It was the hottest part of the day and the band played a slow march. The draft set off at a slow pace, all out of step. After they had travelled about half a mile, they lagged about fifty yards behind the band. The band halted until the draft caught up. Soon afterwards the sergeant sank to his knees and passed out. He was put on a bullock-cart which was following the column. Then another man collapsed, then another and yet another. Thinking those who had collapsed were weak, James Burke determined to arrive at the barracks on his own two feet. When the draft arrived at the barracks, however, he was one of those on the bullock-cart. At the barracks the whole of the battalion had turned out to greet the new arrivals. After the men had bathed, they were given a meal of curried stew. As they had never eaten anything like it before they were initially cautious, but soon began to eat with enjoyment.

James Burke, Benjamin Hurt and the rest of the newly arrived men found discipline was not as strict as it had been in England. They had fewer parades and route marches. Those who were not on guard duty could go to bed in the afternoon and sleep until tea-time. They found the afternoon was the best time to sleep, as sleep at night was very difficult. The afternoon heat was dry, whereas at night it was damp. Lizards and mosquitoes came out at night. The lizards ran along the rafters and up and down the straw window-blinds and the mosquitoes buzzed around the nets that surrounded the soldiers’ beds, trying to find an opening. Thursday was ‘bug-hunting’ day. Each man took his bed onto the veranda, held it chest high and let it drop. The moment it hit the ground swarms of red, fat bugs were ejected from the crevices. The soldiers killed the bugs by stamping on them, resulting in an incredible stench.

Soldiers in India had much higher economic and social status among the local population in India than they had in England or Ireland. In India the locals addressed even private soldiers as Sahib, or Sir. They could afford to keep a servant, and most of them did. Burke paid his servant two annas a week, which was equivalent to two pence in English money. The servant cleaned Burke’s boots and buttons, made his bed, ran messages, brought him early morning tea in bed and was always on hand in case he was needed. A barber came to the barracks every morning and shaved the men before reville, for which each man gave him a penny (an anna). Soldiers were paid five rupees (5s 10d) per week (roughly equivalent to £25.20 or €30.36). There were 14 annas to the rupee and 12 pye to one anna. A soldier could buy thirty-six cigarettes in the bazaar for one pye. Food was very cheap. Four annas would buy a large plate of curried stew, sago pudding, tea, bread and butter. A pint of beer could be bought for one anna.

Having always been interested in music, James Burke applied to join the battalion band. He was accepted and, following a year’s training, he was playing clarinet. He also joined the battalion’s dramatic society. Being a good singer, he teamed up with Joe Gallagher, a fellow bandsman and dramatic society member. Gallagher taught him to dance. Burke played the part of a toff and Gallagher that of a tramp. They travelled all over India entertaining troops, putting on shows at hospitals, regimental functions and once appeared at a command performance for the Viceroy of India.
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There were a number of skilled footballers among the battalion’s band and drummers. A photograph taken at Ahmednagar in 1913 shows the Band and Drum team that won the 1st Battalion Inter-Company Football League in the 1912-1913 season. Included in the photo are Lance-Corporal Samuel Clough, Lance-Corporal Michael Ludford, Private Richard Richards and Bandsman Harry Whitham. Clough, from Cheshire and Richards, from Shropshire appear to have joined up at the same time, in 1905, as they both enlisted in Lichfield and were given sequential regimental numbers. Clough was the first-cornet soloist in the battalion band. Like Stephen Filbey and Harry Fox, he appears to have been the child of a single mother. He attended a certified industrial school – ‘for destitute and neglected children requiring education.’7
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Lance-Corporal Edward Nugent.

Ludford joined the battalion in the same year as Clough and Richards, though he enlisted in Stratford. Born in Cottage Place, Lambeth in 1889 to Irish parents, like Clough, he had attained the rank of Lance-Corporal.8 Bandsman Harry Whitham was from Mile End, Middlesex. Apparently the best footballer of the quartet, he was also a member of the battalion football team. With two exceptions, those in the photograph taken at Ahmednagar were dressed as footballers. The exceptions are Band-Sergeant Harry Fox and lance-corporal Edward Nugent, who appear in army uniform. It seems likely that Fox was the team manager and Nugent assistant-manager. Edward Nugent was born in Leigh, Lancashire. Following the death or desertion of his father, Edward and his older sister Mary ended up in the workhouse at Atherton. His enlistment as a drummer with the Royal Dublin Fusiliers presumably was his key to escape from the workhouse. Though Private Benjamin Hurt, who had arrived in the draft with James Burke, was an accomplished footballer, no record has yet been found of any of the battalion teams he played for during this period. It seems likely, however, in the light of his subsequent army footballing record, that he was on one of the 1st Battalion Inter-Company Football League teams beaten by the Band and Drum Team in the 1912–1913 season.9

[image: images]

Fort St George, Madras, 1913

In 1913, the battalion was moved to the city of Madras, on the east coast. Madras was the city where the battalion had originally been established as part of the East India Company Army. The climate was cooler than it had been at Ahmednagar and thousands of Europeans of various nationalities lived in the city. James Burke and Joe Gallagher were in great demand at the big house parties, garden parties and other social events. They also played with the battalion band on the marina every Sunday afternoon.

Also in the band, one of the battalion’s sixteen drummers, was Private Samuel (Sam) Mallaghan. Sam’s younger brother John (Jack) was stationed at an outpost at Bellary. Sam and Jack Mallaghan were a long way from their family home in Newry, County Down. The house, on Stream Street, is part of a terrace on one side of a narrow street. Facing the house is an open field where Sam and Jack had played boyhood games just a few short years before. St Patrick’s church, where the family worshipped, overshadows the field and the row of terraced houses. The first Church of Ireland to be built in Ireland, it earned fame of sorts when Jonathan Swift penned a short ditty mentioning it. ‘High church, low steeple. Dirty streets and proud people.’ Still living in the Mallaghan family home were the boys’ older sister Minnie, younger sister Ethel, mother Annie and father John.

Sam and Jack had joined up together. Their lives had changed completely since they had walked the short distance from their home to the Linen Hall Barracks, entered the archway and taken the King’s shilling. Assigned to the 2nd Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers in England, Sam had been given the regimental number 10732 and Jack 10733. Like James Burke, the Mallaghan brothers had been sent to India as part of a draft. In 1913 or early 1914 Sam sent an undated letter to his parents in Newry, County Down.10
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Sam Mallaghan.

Reg No. 10732

Pte. S. Mallaghan

1st Bn RD Fus

Drums

Kings Barracks

Madras

India



Dear Father and Mother,



Just a few lines to let you know I am well, as I hope it leaves you all the same. I was a long time in answering your last letter but I hadn’t got time as I was [next word is word illegible. Looks like ‘having’] my course. It is terrible hot here at present. It goes up to 102 in the shade but the place where Jack is it is a 115. I suppose you wonder why he was shifted from me. Well I will tell you. One bugler a company was sent to Bellary to do duty. Four companies was sent also. So he is in a different Coy [Company]. He is in E Coy [E Company]. Well we were sent to Madras on account of it being a swanky place. It is a town. So the drums is in Madras. This is where the regiment was formed. I go to church every Sunday night and I am on the tack. My chum Albert Bowsher put me on it. He is a Church of England to[o]. He is a nice we[e] fellow. He says to me every week come on Sammy give me your pay and I will keep it in my [next word is illegible. Looks ‘bop.’] and you wont go to the canteen then and if I ask for a pint he says no. He is the same age as me. He was born in the same year, same date. He is always looking at Ethel on the wall and saying roll on till she grows up big. He took the photo and I took it back of[f] him again. Me and him goes home together. I am going to bring him to Newry for a while. Tell Minnie to send him a postcard. How is my father getting on in his new job. Owl [old] Wilson must have been a stingy old Devil. Never gave him a pice. Don’t forget the we[e] bit of tobbacco. I am nearly pegging out smoking the stuff here. And here, Minnie should be glad now – I have got her a boy. How is Willie and Ethel getting on and Herbert are they well. I think I will close this letter now for I cant say any more at present. Don’t forget the we[e] bit of tobbacco.



This is Jack’s address Reg No 10741, Pte. J. Mallaghan, E Coy, Plassey Bks, Bellary, India.



This is Albert’s address Reg No 10190 Dr. Albert Bowsher, Drums, 1st RD Fus, Kings Bks, Madras, India. Tell Minnie not to forget the p.c. and he will send her a present. Goodbye write soon. Don’t forget the tobbacco.



The letter was unsigned.
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Twenty-seven-year-old Lance-Corporal Nicholas (Nicky) Smyth came from a family of nine children in rural County Meath. Like the Mallaghans and several others in the battalion, he appears to have joined the army to escape the grind of working as an agricultural labourer. Initially serving with the 2nd Battalion in England, he had subsequently been sent to India. His brother Christopher (Christy) had followed him into the Dubs and was now serving with their 2nd Battalion in England. Interestingly, the 1911 census form for the Smyth family home recorded Nicky’s maternal grandfather, John Mitchell, living with the family. At eighty-seven years old, he was still working, with his occupation given as an agricultural labourer. Mitchell had served with the 41st Foot (later the Welsh Regiment) and fought in the Crimean War at Alma, Inkerman and Sevastopol. Presumably having escaped the life of an agricultural labourer by joining the army, his post-army life had condemned him to returning to this work.
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Milton Barracks, Gravesend, Kent, May 1914

Forty-eight-year-old Major Richard Rooth was serving with the 2nd Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers. Gazetted into the Dubs as a Second Lieutenant at the age of nineteen, he had spent all his adult life with the regiment, serving in both battalions. During the early 1890s he had been attached to the regimental depot in Naas, County Kildare. Promoted to captain in 1894, he spent a period as adjutant of the 2nd Battalion. This was an experience he enjoyed and which he subsequently repeated on detached duty as adjutant of the Poona Volunteers from 1897 to 1902. He returned to the Dublins in 1903, in time to serve in the Aden campaign with the 2nd Battalion. In November 1903, the 2nd Battalion returned to Ireland, where it was stationed at Buttevant, County Cork. Promoted to major in 1906, Rooth commanded the regimental depot in Naas, County Kildare from 1907 to 1910, following which he rejoined the 2nd Battalion. Born in London, he was the son of a barrister who had been born in Wales, and the grandson of a landowner who had been born in Ireland. Educated at Highgate School and in France, he subsequently attended the Royal Military College at Sandhurst. In 1895 he married Amy Mary Cann of Dawlish, Devon, daughter of a surgeon. They had two children, Richard and Nancy.11 As the second highest-ranking officer in the 2nd Battalion, Rooth had taken command of the battalion during Lieutenant-Colonel Arthur Mainwaring’s honeymoon in June 1912. Now his hour had come. Lieutenant-Colonel Downing, commanding officer of the 1st Battalion, was about to retire. Rooth, as the senior major in the regiment, was appointed to take over his command. On 13 May 1914, he left Milton Barracks with Captain William Higginson.12
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Blue Cap Commanding officer Lieutenant-Colonel Richard Rooth.

While sailing from London, Rooth received a message telling him to ask the captain of the ship to slow down off Gravesend. A tender put out from Gravesend containing every officer, N.C.O. and man from the 2nd Battalion who could find standing room on the vessel. The regimental band played as the tender steamed alongside the ship, finishing up with Auld Lang Syne. It is nice to think Rooth and Higginson would have been happy as the battalion bid them farewell. Both men had less than a year to live.
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Fort St George, Madras, July 1914

Lieutenant James Grove from Letterkenny, County Donegal was stationed at the fort, but in a different capacity to his fellow officers. Assigned as aide-de-camp to the Governor of Madras, he was, however, still in contact with his battalion. On 24 April 1914 he wrote to his mother (Lucy Georgina Grove, who had been born in India) at Castle Grove, Letterkenny, County Donegal.



My dearest mother, This is only a short note. I have at last finished my exam I’m glad to say and the only thing to do now is to wait for about 3 months for the result. I’m off to [next word is illegible. Looks like ‘duty’] tonight and am fairly busy packing etc. So I won’t write any more. In case there is no news. I have been doing nothing except exam for the last week and am heartily sick of it. However I think I ought to have passed all right. Although of course one never can tell. Love to you and Monsieur, Your affec son, James R. W. Grove.13



Written examination regulated promotion from lieutenant to captain and from captain to major. Promotion to lieutenant-colonel was by practical examination in tactics.
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Like his older brothers, Ewing and Herbert, and his younger brother Roly, Dubliner Cecil Grimshaw had served part-time in the 5th Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers (Dublin County Militia), a reserve battalion.14 He and his eldest brother, Ewing, subsequently went on to serve with the 1st Battalion. Captured by the Boers near Talana Hill on 19 October 1899, Cecil was brought to a prison camp at the Staats Model School in Pretoria. One of his fellow prisoners was War Correspondent Winston Churchill. In his book London to Ladysmith via Pretoria Churchill says: ‘A very energetic and clever young officer of the Dublin Fusiliers, Lieutenant Grimshaw, undertook the task of managing the mess …’ Grimshaw, however, in his own diary made critical comments about Churchill’s subsequent escape from the camp.15 Grimshaw and two other officers later made an unsuccessful escape attempt. In January 1900, while he was still in the prison camp, Grimshaw’s father Thomas died in Dublin.16 In June, the British captured Pretoria and the prisoners were released. According to the diary of fellow prisoner Captain Malcolm Lonsdale, 2nd Battalion Royal Dublin Fusiliers:



At about nine o’clock two men, who turned out to be the Duke of Marlborough and young Churchill, galloped up to us.17 Then we cheered and shouted ourselves hoarse. We rushed out of the enclosure (both Churchill and Grimshaw said the prisoners overpowered the camp guards) and Grimshaw of the Dublin Fusiliers, climbed up the flag-staff with the Union Jack in his mouth and fastened it to the top. This Union Jack had been kept by us all the months of our imprisonment, having been manufactured out of a Transvaal flag, which had been cut up for the purpose.18
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